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Jack W. Fiander
Towtnuk Law Offices, Ltd.
1703 Creekside Loop, Ste. 110
Yakima, WA 98902-4875
(509) 969-4436
E-mail towtnuklaw@msn.com

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

WAYNE JOHNSON, et al.,

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. CR-07-5656-JKA-3

MEMORANDUM OF AUTHORITIES IN
SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION
TO DISMISS COUNT ONE
(CONSPIRACY)

INTRODUCTION

Defendant is charged in Count One of the Indictment with Conspiracy to violate the

Whaling Convention Act, 16 U.S.C. 916c, 916f, and the Marine Mammal Protection Act, 16

U.S.C. 1372 (a) (2) and 1375 (b) relating to the harvest of a gray whale by members of the

Makah Tribe in Neah Bay, Washington near where the Strait of Juan de Fuca joins the Pacific

Ocean.

Defendant has moved the court to dismiss Count One of the Indictment.

For the reasons stated herein, the Count One should be dismissed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

For purposes of ruling upon a motion to dismiss, all well-pleaded allegations in the

Indictment are presumed to be true and construed in favor of the non-moving party.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Applying the above standard to the Indictment, the following facts would be presumed to

be true:

Andrew Noel is a member of the Makah Tribe Whaling Commission (Indictment ¶ 5, pg.

3). As alleged in the Indictment, on September 8, 2007, defendant Andrew Noel and alleged co-

conspirators hunted a gray whale. The whale was encountered in Neah Bay (Indictment ¶ 2, pg.

2). He, and other co-defendants, allegedly obtained a Makah Indian Tribal boat (Indictment ¶ 3,

page 2), borrowed equipment owned by the Makah Tribal Whaling Commission (Indictment, ¶ 5,

page 3), struck it with one or more harpoons, and shot it with a high caliber weapon. Buoys

belonging to a Makah tribal employee kept the whale afloat while the defendant attempted to

land it (Indictment ¶ 7, pg. 3). The whale was encountered near Seal Rock (Indictment ¶ 9, pg.

3) in Neah Bay and appears to have been, at various times, both on an off reservation waters.

This is evident from the testimony presented by the Government’s witness before the Grand

Jury:

Q: Let’s turn to the facts, specific facts in this case. When did
NOAA first learn that there had been some whaling activity out on
the Makah reservation?

A: On Saturday morning, one of our agents, one of the agents that
works for me received a phone call, duty agent call regarding five
Makah Indians shooting a whale off of Neah Bay.

Grand Jury Testimony, pg. 8, lines 19-25 (Oct. 4, 2007). See also pg. 20, lines 21-23 (this was

supposed to be done in another part of Neah Bay, this was done close to shore).

Presumably, to be eligible to serve as a member of the Makah Tribe Whaling

Commission, a person must be a member of the Makah Tribe. Besides taking notice of facts in

an Indictment, the Court may take judicial notice of matters of law. Fed. R. Evid. 201. The

Makah Tribe is a party to the Treaty of Neah Bay, 12 Stat. 939, with the United States

government. Such treaty provides, inter alia, that:
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The right of taking fish and of whaling or sealing at usual and
accustomed grounds and stations is further secured to said Indians
in common with all citizens of the United States[.]

Id., (emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

1. A defendant cannot be convicted of Conspiracy for agreeing to
engage in conduct which is not per se prohibited by a federal
criminal statute. If the statute sometimes applies and
sometimes not, it cannot be said the defendant agreed to
commit an unlawful act within the meaning of the Conspiracy
act.

Accepting the allegations of the Indictment as true for purposes of this motion, it can be

said that the defendants intended to kill a whale. Assuming the Government can prove that

application of the principle statutes (Count Two and Three) to the defendant’s conduct is a

“conservation necessity,” that could conceivably be enough to convict the defendants of Count

Two and Count Three.

The crime of Conspiracy (Count One), however, is a separate offense from the principal

statutes that defendant is accused of having conspired to violate. Conspiracy has its own entirely

separate elements. Essentially, as stated in the Indictment, these include two or more people

knowingly and willfully agreeing to engage in unlawful conduct which constitutes an offense

against the United States (Indictment, ¶ 1, page 1, lines 24-25), and one of them commits an

overt act (see Indictment, pg. 3, passim) in furtherance of the conspiracy. See also, Ninth Circuit

Model Criminal Jury Instruction 8.16 (crime of conspiracy is an agreement to do something

unlawful). In order to have conspired to commit an unlawful act, a defendant must have had at

least general knowledge that the law forbade this actions and he acted with intent to circumvent

such law.

As applied to the facts of this case, a charge of Conspiracy cannot lawfully be

maintained. The reason being that, in the case of a tribal Indian, the principal law he or she is
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accused of having violated does not always apply to make his or her conduct unlawful. In some

cases, that law is applicable to the defendant’s conduct, i.e., where application to the defendant’s

conduct is necessary to effectuate perpetuation of a species of animal or fish. In other cases, for

example, where application of a federal fish and game law is not essential to conservation of a

species of fish or game, a tribal defendant is not constrained by those statutory prohibitions and

is not criminally liable for violating the statute.

In United States v. Williams, 898 F. 2d 727 (9th Cir. 1990), the Government

unsuccessfully made the argument that federal wildlife conservation statutes are per se

applicable to Indian treaty tribal members without first having to demonstrate a “conservation

necessity.” This argument was rejected:

We choose not to take this step advocated by the United States.
The purpose of requiring the Government to prove conservation
necessity before imposing its wildlife laws on tribe members is to
safeguard the hunting and fishing rights held by the Tribes while
pursuing the important goal of conservation.

Id. As the Ninth Circuit stated in Williams, “the courts must make a finding of the validity of

the use of state or federal wildlife laws against tribe members.” Id. This is a unique situation in

American law arising from the unique status which Indians and Indian tribes possess. The

applicability of a federal fish or game law that purports to prohibit certain conduct to a tribal

Indian’s activities is made on a case by case basis. Unlike, for example, federal drug

enforcement laws which always apply to prohibit a defendant’s conduct, the applicability of

federal fisheries and wildlife statutes to tribal Indians involves a more complex analysis—

sometimes they apply as a matter of law and sometimes they do not, depending upon the facts of

the case and the severity of the conservation impact of the defendant’s conduct on a species.

According to the Ninth Circuit this complex analyis must be performed before the federal law

may be applied to the tribe member. Williams, supra.
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Therefore, how can the defendants have made an agreement to commit an unlawful act,

when the conduct engaged in sometimes lawful and sometimes unlawful, depending on the

factual circumstances? Unlike general federal criminal laws which are uniformly applicable to

all citizens, for example federal drug enforcement laws, Indians whose tribes are parties to

treaties with the United States may not be prosecuted under federal fish and game laws except in

circumstances where the application of that law is necessary for conservation purposes, i.e., it is

a case specific analysis.1 General federal laws applicable to all other persons are not always

applicable to Indian tribal members. See, e.g., Lumber Industry Pension Council v. Warm

Springs Forest Product Industries, 939 F. 2d 683 (9th Cir. 1991). Defendant does not deny that,

had he been charged with some other general federal offense—for example, murder—he could

be charged both with Murder and with Conspiracy to commit murder because the murder statute

always applies. However, here, we have a case where the defendant is charged with a federal

wildlife conservation law which may or may not apply to make his conduct unlawful, depending

upon the showing by the Government. Under such circumstances, it cannot be unequivocally

said that there was an agreement to commit an unlawful act within the meaning of the

Conspiracy statute. To interpret the Conspiracy statute in such a way that a defendant could be

charged with Conspiracy when he or she had no way of knowing whether he or she was even

subject to the law they were accused of having conspired to violate would have a chilling effect

on the exercise of any tribal rights. This is directly contrary to what the Ninth Circuit was trying

1 In some cases, the federal law applies to the Treaty Indian’s conduct because that is necessary to
effectuate the conservation purposes of the statute. For example, the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection
Act applied to result in the conviction of Nathan Jim, Jr. United States v. Nathan Jim, 888 F. Supp. 1058
(D. Or. 1995). Jim claimed the need to shoot 12 eagles in Oregon where eagles were on the decline and
on the threatened or endangered species list. Similarly, in United States v. Billie, 667 F. Supp. 1485 (S.D.
Fla. 1985) the defendant was convicted of killing a panther on the Seminole Reservation. Application of
the principle statute was appropriate because of the endangered status of the animal.

Case 3:07-cr-05656-JKA     Document 62      Filed 12/12/2007     Page 5 of 7



MEMORANDUM 6

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

to accommodate when it came up with this unique test.2 Construing the Conspiracy statute in

such a fashion would also probably render it void for vagueness as applied to the facts of this

case, since it would require tribal defendants situated similarly to defendant Noel to guess as to

whether he or she was agreeing to do something prohibited, without knowing if the prohibitory

statute was even applicable. Application of criminal statute is precluded by the void for

vagueness doctrine if persons of ordinary intelligence must guess as to whether their conduct is

unlawful. See generally, Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 (1972).

In this case, construing the allegations of the Indictment as true for the purposes of this

motion, it can be said that the defendant intended to hunt a whale. It cannot be said that the

defendant agreed to commit an unlawful act. They cannot have known they were unlawful. The

defendants generally knew their treaty referenced whales. As Tribal Whaling Commissioners,

two of the defendants would presumably have known that the Gray Whale is not a threatened or

endangered species and that its numbers had increased substantially.3 They encountered a whale

in Neah Bay close to shore, placing it within or near the Tribe’s reservation waters. For the

defendant to be subject to the statutory prohibitions, thereby making their conduct “unlawful,”

the harvest of that particular species of animal at the time it was taken in that particular vicinity

has to have a harmful impact upon the conservation, or viability, of its species. Specifically, the

conservation statute sought to be applied has to be both “reasonable” and “necessary” for

conservation. See generally, State v. Miller, 102 Wash. 2d 678 (1984). Meaning that applying

the regulation to the tribal member is necessary to conserve the species. A conservation

2 As the Panel stated, “the aim is to accommodate the rights of the Indians…and the rights of other people.”
Williams, supra.

3 According to a 2005 report of the State of Alaska Department of Fish and Game, the population of
Eastern Pacific gray whales “have recovered to pre-exploitation abundance, and and their population is
now estimated at 21,000”.
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regulation is “necessary” only if it is demonstrated that its application is required for the

perpetuation of the species in a given area. Id. See also, State v. Buchanan, 138 Wash. 2d 186

(1999). As stated in United States v. Washington, 384 U.S. 312 (W.D. Wash. 1974), affirmed,

520 F. 2d 676 (9th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 420 U.S. 676 (1976):

“[C]onservation” as used in Supreme Court decisions and herein is
limited to those measures which are reasonable and necessary to
the perpetuation of a particular run or species of fish. In this
context, as well as by dictionary definition, “reasonable” means
that a specifically identified conservation measure is appropriate to
its purpose; and “necessary” means that such purpose in addition to
being reasonable must be essential to conservation.

384 F. Supp. at 342.

CONCLUSION

Because, unlike other laws, federal fish and game laws are not per se applicable to make

the defendant’s conduct unlawful, and the Ninth Circuit has stated that such laws do not always

apply, there can have been no agreement to commit an unlawful act within the meaning of the

Conspiracy statute, 18 U.S.C. 371.

For the foregoing reasons, Count One of the Indictment should be dismissed.

DATED this day of December, 2007

/ S / Jack W. Fiander

Jack W. Fiander
Counsel for Defendant
Andrew Noel

1703 Creekside Loop
Ste. 110
Yakima, WA 98902-4875
(509) 969-4436
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